
Date Published:13 July 2022     

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee

Thursday 21 July 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies. 

Chair

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Chair

3  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 31 May 2022. 

The actions from the last meeting are attached for information. 

Chair

INFORMATION ITEMS

4  PUBLIC TRANSPORT (Pages 11 - 20)

To receive a report and presentation on Public Transport, including an 
overview of the Mass Transit Project and how it fits within the context of 
the transport decarbonisation agenda,  as well as proposals for the 
improvement of public transport in rural areas. 

Luisa Senft-
Hayward, David 
Land

5  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT (Pages 21 - 32)

To note the attached update report from Colin Chick, Executive Director of 
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure.

This report is to be taken as read. If members of the Committee have any 
questions, these should be emailed to Laura Powick in Democratic 

Colin Chick



    

Services who will liaise with officers to provide a written response.

6  WORK PLAN (Pages 33 - 34)

To review the committee work plan and suggest items for consideration at 
future meetings.

Chair

7  FUTURE MEETINGS 

To note the dates of future meetings (all meetings to start at 10am):

22 September 2022
29 November 2022
18 January 2023
30 March 2023
25 May 2023
20 July 2023
21 September 2023
30 November 2023. 

Chair

Membership –  Cllr Robert Vines, Cllr Roger Whyborn, Cllr Matt Babbage (Chair), Cllr Sajid Patel, 
Cllr Alastair Chambers, Cllr Chloe Turner, Cllr Paul Baker (Vice-Chair), Cllr Stephen Hirst and 
Cllr Vernon Smith Cllr Nicky Packer, Cllr Paul McCloskey, Cllr John Murphy and Cllr Gina 
Blomefield

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Governance, Rob Ayliffe 01452 328198 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny 
Committee held on Tuesday 31 May 2022 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet 
Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Roger Whyborn
Cllr Matt Babbage (Chair)
Cllr Paul McCloskey
Cllr John Murphy

Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Alastair Chambers
Cllr Chloe Turner
Cllr Stephen Hirst

Virtual Member 
Attendance:

Substitutes:

Cllr Chloe Turner

Cllr Patrick Coleman

Apologies:

Officers in 
Attendance:

Cllr Nicky Packer, Cllr Gina Blomefield and Cllr Paul Baker

Colin Chick (GCC) Nigel Lush (Vistry)
Laura Powick (GCC) Shane Cox (Vistry)
Sandra Ford (TBC) Peter Trodden (Bellway)
Cllr Philip Robinson (GCC) Cllr Tony Dale (CDC)
Neil Hopwood (GFirst LEP)

20. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Paul Baker, Nicky Packer and Gina Blomefield. 
Cllr Patrick Coleman substituted for Cllr Blomefield. 

One member expressed their concern that the day on which GEGSC meetings 
were held kept changing, which prevented some members from being able to 
attend.  

21. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made. 

22. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 31 March 2022 were approved by the 
Committee. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

23. GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE UPDATE 

The Committee received a verbal update from Cllr Tony Dale, Chair of the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee, on the GEGJC meeting held 
earlier in the month.

Members were informed that the GEGJC had considered three requests for funding 
from the Strategic Economic Development Fund; a report on the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund; a presentation on transport decarbonisation; and updates from 
GFirst LEP and on the GCC Economic Dashboard.

One member requested further information on transport decarbonisation from Cllr 
Dale, particularly how this related to rail travel in Gloucestershire.  

Colin Chick, Executive Director of Economy, Environment and Infrastructure, 
explained that members of this Committee had been invited to attend a joint 
meeting with the Environment Scrutiny Committee to receive a presentation on 
transport decarbonisation. He reminded members that the evidence makes clear 
that a change in everyone’s behaviours was required in order to achieve significant 
carbon reduction. 

He added that in terms of rail transport, the role of the County Council was to lobby, 
and a number of improvements to the rail network had been achieved through that. 
Lobbying was still on going for the electrification of the rail network in 
Gloucestershire. 

There was a further question about the detail of the SEDF bid from the Royal 
Agricultural University (RAU) for its ‘Innovation Village’ Project. In response, Cllr 
Dale explained that it was his understanding that the RAU was looking to improve 
its infrastructure in order to expand on its research capability for sustainable 
agriculture at a time of global need. The funding would be used to develop a new 
innovation campus, which would include a research and development building.

It was requested that an item on sustainable transport be included in the work plan 
for the GEGSC. 

24. MODERN METHODS OF CONSTRUCTION - DEVELOPERS 

The Committee received two presentations from housing developers on Modern 
Methods of Construction (MMC).

The first presentation was delivered by Nigel Lush and Shane Cox from Vistry 
Homes. Members were informed of the following:

 Vistry Homes mainly relied on traditional building methods, however they 
had embraced the use of the Smart Roof, which they had been using for the 
last 2 years.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

 To traditionally fit a roof on a two and half story build, it would take 4 to 6 
weeks, could be labour intensive as well as time consuming, and resulted in 
waste from cutting. 

 The Smart Roof was trialled on the homes being built at Hunt’s Grove in 
Quedgeley.

 It took just 1 to 2 days to put up a Smart Roof, which was fitted and made in 
a factory before being transported to the building site. 

 Once up, the Smart Roof just needed to be tiled and finished. 
 The Smart Roof was safe, clean, water tight, and efficient. 
 The advantages and disadvantages of installing an MMC Pod Unit were 

discussed.
 Advantages of this type of construction included quicker construction 

timescales, reduced waste on site, the accuracy of the material having been 
completed in a factory, and increased safety due to less man hours on 
scaffolding. 

 The disadvantages included the increased cost, particularly as group deals 
could be secured on traditional materials, and purchaser nervousness with 
new technology, as opposed to traditional bricks and mortar. 

The second presentation was delivered by Peter Trodden from Bellway Homes. 
Members were informed of the following:

 MMC technologies were categorised from 1 to 7.
 Bellway had trialled category 1 methods through the construction of ILKE 

modular homes, who were market leaders in this type of construction. 
 The advantages of this volumetric construction included the speed of 

completion, the factory controlled environment, and the reduced storage of 
site materials.

 The disadvantages included the cost, higher design requirements, lack of 
flexibility to overcome site restraints and timescales, and customer 
perception. 

 In terms of category 2, Bellway widely constructed homes with timber frames 
in Scotland.

 The advantages of this type of panelised construction included the speed of 
build, low carbon production, health and safety benefits and the removal of 
wet trades. 

 The disadvantages included the cost, longer design period, lack of flexibility 
with time scales, customer perception and fire concerns. 

 Category 3 related to pre-fabricated components, such as roofs, stairs, and 
dormas, which had been used by Bellway for a number of years.

 The advantages of using these included the speed of construction, health 
and safety benefits, and consistency and quality control. 

 The disadvantages included a lack of flexibility, reliance on third party 
manufacturers, and logistics. 

 The other category occasionally used by Bellway was category 5 in the form 
of bathroom pods. 

 This type of pre-manufacturing non-structural assemblies included the speed 
of build, health and safety benefits and consistency.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

 There have been issues with getting building materials and skills on site 
currently.

 4 new building regulations had been introduced this year which focused on 
construction techniques, including the carbon impact of the types of building 
materials being used.

 For example, timber was low carbon, whereas steel was high carbon.
 Manufacturers were therefore trying to adapt and there would be a further 

change to building regulations in 2025. 
 Increased utility costs were also having on impact on the building trade, for 

example, a brick factory in Portugal had recently closed as they couldn’t 
afford to fire the kilns. 

The Committee discussed the presentations they had received and asked a number 
of questions of the presenters.

One member asked whether there was a reduction in the production of carbon by 
using MMC as opposed to traditional methods? They also asked why the Smart 
Roof did not come with solar panels already installed? In response, Peter Trodden 
explained that whilst all buildings complied with the new building regulations, they 
could not give comparisons in terms of carbon. It was his opinion that timber frame 
constructions would be low carbon, concrete products produced less carbon in 
manufacture than clay, and steel was one of the most carbon intensive materials.

In terms of the solar panels, he explained that the 2021 change in building 
regulations favoured electric heating with most developers looking into heat pumps. 
This was an interim step to the future homes standard 2025 which would remove 
the option of fossil fuels heating homes. 

Another member commented that it was worrying the Government had not 
established the right parameters for the construction industry on carbon reduction, 
and that members should be lobbying on that. They also asked why MMC had not 
taken off despite pre-fabricated houses being built as far back as the 1940s?

In response, Nigel Lush explained that whilst he felt the product was good, the 
costs were a constraint for MMC, and he didn’t believe it could keep up with 
housing demand. Additionally there was more reliance and confidence in traditional 
methods, particularly amongst customers. 

Peter Trodden added that the upfront investment into MMC was enormous, and 
therefore this had not been pursued given past recessions and the current cost of 
living crisis. He explained that the beauty of traditional construction was its flexibility 
and that resources could be focused where demand was. 

A further member expressed their surprise that a detailed carbon analysis could not 
be provided on the types of construction, given the current stage of the climate 
emergency. They were also surprised that more weight wasn’t being given to solar 
panels and attempting to orientate houses to get the best results from them. They 
asked what commitments the organisations had in relation to the climate?

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Shane Cox responded that the use of PV panels was taken into account, for 
example, they were included in one of their developments at Bishops Cleeve, and 
that the technology had improved so that could work efficiently when facing East 
and West. They could also be put on top of garages.

Peter Trodden explained that as the focus for their Homes England trial on modular 
unit construction was on accelerated delivery, they unfortunately did not have the 
comparison figures for carbon. In terms of the use of PV panels, many factors 
determined the layout of a site and often there was no space for PV panels on a 
house.

Both companies stated that they could share information with members on their 
carbon reduction commitments. 

There was a member question as to how much money could be saved if councils 
were encouraged to approve designs that did not include garages but space 
instead where people could attach extensions suiting their own needs?
They also asked whether modular homes could be extended on?

Nigel Lush explained that depending on the finish, a detached single garage could 
cost £8-10k to build, however this would add revenue to the plot. Whilst they do 
consider removing garages on certain houses, they normally provided them for 4 
bedroom plus houses and they were also specified by highways. 

Peter Trodden added that whilst removing garages could save £10-15k on a plot, 
customers often expected developments to include garages. 

Shane Cox replied, in response to the question on extensions, that you could apply 
a traditional extension to the rear or side of a modular construction, however the 
difficulties came when attempting to alter the fabric of a modular pod. 

A member queried whether the use of smart roofing delivered cost savings to the 
developers? They also asked whether MMC pod units created a challenge for 
buyers with lenders?

Nigel Lush, in response to the first question, explained that the use of the Smart 
Roof did not deliver cost savings, however given its efficiency and benefits to 
safety, the company had taken on its use. 

In terms of the second question, Peter Trodden explained that modular companies, 
such as ILKE, ensured that they are NHBC approved, and all of the main lenders 
have approved their product. 

Colin Chick asked the developers whether it was a lost opportunity to not include 
PV panels on smart roofs. In response, Nigel Lush explained that due to dormas 
and Velux windows, there was often not enough space for these panels to be 
included. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Colin Chick commented that there was still the same issues with MMC decades 
later. He queried whether they would ever get there with the development of a 
complete modular house and asked the developers if they would pursue MMC if 
they were not being subsidised?

Peter Trodden responded that Bellway Homes would continue to build traditionally 
in order to keep costs down against the boom and bust nature of the construction 
industry. He understood why Homes England were sponsoring the MMC trials and 
overtime, if they could be made a success it would be good to be involved. 

Nigel Lush agreed that the boom and bust nature of the construction industry 
ensured the continued use of traditional methods, and cited a current nervousness 
of buying land. He added that he would like to think they would get there with MMC 
as a more sustainable product, however he didn’t think this would happen within his 
career. 

One member asked whether electric charging points were included as statutory in 
developments. In response, the developers agreed that they were.

Further questions were asked on the use of containment routes in developments 
and the use of ground water harvesting tanks.

The Chair thanked the presenters for attending and delivering their presentations to 
the Committee. 

25. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

The Committee noted the report. 

26. WORK PLAN 

It was requested that items on sustainable and public transport, and on the 
independent retail sector be added to the work plan. 

It was also suggested that consideration be given to each district council hosting a 
meeting of the Committee to consider presentations from each district on their 
economic growth vision. 

A lead member work planning session would be held in June to consider the work 
plan for the Committee for the rest of 2022. Members were asked to submit any 
further suggestions by email to be considered at that meeting. 

27. FUTURE MEETINGS 

The Committee noted the future meeting dates. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.25 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee actions – 31 May 2022

Topic Action Responsibility Progress

149. GEGJC Update To include an item on sustainable transport in the 
GEGSC work plan.

Laura Powick Completed. 

263. Modern Methods of 
Construction – 
Developers

To share with members the carbon reduction 
commitments of Bellway and Vistry Homes. 

Bellway/ Vistry 
Homes

A reminder was sent to the 
developers for this 
information on 28 June. 
Bellway Homes plans shared 
on 29 June via email. 

350. Work Plan Items on sustainable and public transport and on 
the independent retail sector to be included in the 
work plan. 

Laura Powick Completed.

P
age 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 1 of 10

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee

Report Title: Mass Rapid Transit update

Meeting Date: 21 July 2022

Chair: Cllr Matt Babbage

Presenting Officer: Luisa Senft-Hayward, Transport Planning Team Leader

Purpose of Report: To consider the work undertaken to date, in terms of 
developing the case for supporting transport 
decarbonisation through mass rapid transit. 

Planned Dates Options Appraisal Report – July 2023
Strategic Outline Case – c.July 2024

Background 
documents:

Adopted Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
(2020-2041) 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershir
es-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/gloucestershire-ltp-
2020-2041/ 

Gloucestershire’s Climate Change Strategy
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-
environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-
climate-action/our-vision/gloucestershires-climate-change-
strategy/ 

Gloucestershire Bus Service Improvement Plan 
gcc-bsip-final-2910-accessible.pdf (gloucestershire.gov.uk)

Appendices n/a

Recommendations
To note the clear need to decarbonise transport in 
Gloucestershire, and the central role of a Mass Rapid 
Transit system to achieve the modal shift to public 
transport required to meet Gloucestershire’s carbon 
reduction targets. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/gloucestershire-ltp-2020-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/gloucestershire-ltp-2020-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/gloucestershire-ltp-2020-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-climate-action/our-vision/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-climate-action/our-vision/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-climate-action/our-vision/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-climate-action/our-vision/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2111305/gcc-bsip-final-2910-accessible.pdf


ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 2 of 10

         
1.             Background

1.1 Mass transit refers to new types of urban-specific transportation, including bus rapid 
transit (BRT), light rail transit (most commonly trams) and very/ultra-light rail. These 
are all (mostly) segregated transport systems designed for urban areas. They are 
relatively inexpensive compared to constructing heavy rail lines but are more 
efficient/reliable and are designed to transport greater numbers of people than 
standard bus services. 

1.2 The need for a mass 
transit system in 
Central 
Gloucestershire was 
identified in 
Gloucestershire’s draft 
Industrial Strategy 
(2019) and further 
developed in 
Gloucestershire’s 
Transport Plan (2021), 
which also identified a 
potential Mass Public 
Transit Area, and the 
recently published 
Gloucestershire Bus 
Service Improvement Plan (BSIP).

1.3 Since then, Gloucestershire County Council have undertaken a pre-feasibility study, 
and a feasibility study (both at GCC cost). These have provided a foundation on which 
to build future development stages for a mass transit system. These also provided 
evidence that it was worth pursuing further stages, and hence GCC applied for 
funding from GEGJC to support the Options Appraisal Report (OAR) and Strategic 
Outline Case (SOC). These are required core steps in delivering any transport 
scheme, as part of the DfT’s WebTAG (Transport Appraisal Guidance) process. 

                                                                                                                              

2. Strategic Context

2.1 Climate Change 

2.1.1 GCC’s recent carbon reduction pathway (phase 1) study identified the scale of 
intervention needed for Gloucestershire to meet its transport carbon reduction 
targets. The graph below shows Gloucestershire’s emission gap (the difference 
between Gloucestershire’s carbon reduction targets and currently forecast trends). 

Gloucestershire’s Local Transport Plan 2041: 
Strategic Transport Priorities in the Cheltenham and Gloucester City 

Region

Page 12



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 3 of 10

The blue dotted line shows carbon emissions if current traffic trends continue. This 
line is brought down by taking into consideration the impacts of the Government 
sales ban for petrol and diesel cars, as indicated by the blue solid line. This solid 
blue line can be compared to the solid green line, which represents GCC’s carbon 
reduction targets. The red arrow between these two solid lines identifies 
Gloucestershire’s ‘emission gap’ in 2030. For information and context, the dotted 
green line shows a view of academic experts at the Tyndall Centre for Climate 
Change Research on the rate of decarbonisation required to stay within 
Gloucestershire’s remaining CO2 budget which would leave an even bigger 
emissions gap.

Gloucestershire’s transport carbon emissions gap 

2.1.2 By analysis average trip length by mode and comparing this to carbon emissions 
based on trip length, the phase 1 carbon transport carbon reduction report 
concludes that bus and rail have the most potential to serve trips of the length that 
contribute most to carbon emissions, clearly indicating the need for a substantial 
shift to public transport modes. Although the majority of journeys are under 5km and 
hence easily transferable to bikes,s cooters an walking, it is the longer journsy, over 
20km, that make up 60% of carbon emissions, and these journeys are the ones that 
are less easily transferred to active modes. For these journeys the bus is the most 
likely viable alternative, so this needs to see dramatic improvements in service. 

Page 13



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 4 of 10

2.1.3 To illustrate the scale of change needed to meet the GCC target to reduce CO2 
emissions by 80% by 2030, and assuming that we use all possible areas of change 
(rather than focusing on just one), closing the Gloucestershire transport carbon 
emissions gap would require changes that would in total lead to reductions similar to 
those that may be achieved with the below sketched scenario. Please note that this 
is an illustrative scenario only. 

 A reduction in average trip length by 7.5% (0.6 miles);
 A reduction of 7.5% of car trips (3 trips/month each);
 Ride sharing for an extra 2.5% of car travel;
 An increase in active travel by 300%;
 An increase in public transport use by 100%;
 Eco-driving with a smoothed speed on 75% of car km; and 
 A 100% increase in car km by EV. 

It should be noted that these are not set targets, but figures that are meant to illustrate 
and provide a feel for the scale of change needed by 2030. Higher achievement in 
one area would offset lower achievement in another area. The ambition to increase 
public transport use by 100% can therefore be interpreted as a minimum 
requirement, with an even larger shift to public transport required, should other 
intervention areas not be as successful as indicated above. 

 

2.2 Public Transport in Gloucestershire today

2.2.1 The last census data available (2011) clearly shows that both, rail, and bus use is 
significantly below the UK average. Since then, bus patronage has been roughly flat 
before a dramatic fall due to the covid 19 related lockdown. Today, passenger 
numbers still down c.20% on average in Gloucestershire compared to 2019.

Page 14



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 5 of 10

2.2.2 The reason for the relatively low number of bus passengers in Gloucestershire are 
complex and at least partly related to 
the more rural character of the 
county. However, recent data also 
clearly indicates that bus service 
reliability in Gloucestershire is 
decreasing in recent years and 
satisfaction with bus journey time in 
Gloucestershire is falling and was 
below the UK average and median in 
2019. Journey time and bus service 
reliability are also a constantly recurring theme in bus service operator consultation 
processes as the main barriers to growth. Congestion in urban areas can severely 
impact the reliability of bus services; it extends journey times and means commercial 
investment tends to be an attempt to maintain service frequency in the face of 
increasing congestion rather than improving the service.

2.3 Public transport vision for Gloucestershire

2.3.1 To deliver on Gloucestershire’s climate change ambitions and to address the 
challenges Gloucestershire’s public transport services face, Gloucestershire’s BSIP 
proposes the development of a ‘spoke and hub’ model, where less frequent and 
demand responsive bus services feed into a core high frequency express bus 
network. Interchange hubs will allow the express bus services to be connected to the 
more rural lower frequency or demand responsive buses. These express bus routes 
need to have significantly improved journey times and reliability to stay attractive for 
people, including those travelling from rural areas into towns. 

2.3.2 A Central Severn Vale Mass Rapid Transit scheme at the core of the express bus 
network will ensure that services are protected from congestion and delay and thus 
contribute to the overall attractiveness of the entire public transport offer. Bus 
services from all over Gloucestershire will be able to enter the MRT corridor when 
they get to the more congested sections of their route thus protecting travellers from 
delay on these sections of their journey. 

2.3.3 For mass transit to be Network infrastructure parameters for mass transit

successful it needs to 
compete successfully for 
passengers with other modes 
and generate new trips. To 
achieve this, the following 
parameters were identified 
defining of what a mass 

Page 15



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 6 of 10

transit system would need to provide. 

2.3.4 By improving bus reliability and journey time for all travellers in Gloucestershire a 
Mass Rapid Transit scheme will make the overall public transport offer in 
Gloucestershire more attractive, making it a much-needed focal point for a new 
public transport network in Gloucestershire that delivers on Climate Change 
objectives, enables growth, and supports the economy.

Gloucestershire Bus Route Map (Draft)

The schematic figure above indicates how the central bus and mass transit scheme will 
reach out and connect in with the rural areas surrounding central Gloucestershire. Bus 
services that cover rural areas will have either clear, fast interchanges between rural and 
mass transit systems, or these buses will also be able to switch onto the segregated mass 
transit bus system, and hence make rapid progress into central areas for employment, 
education and services. 

3. Mass Rapid Transit work to date

Page 16



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 7 of 10

3.1 Pre-feasibility study 

3.1.1 A Pre-feasibility study was completed in 2021. The Pre-feasibility study explored 
transport challenges in Central Gloucestershire and provided an initial overview 
of how a mass transit system could provide a potential solution to these 
challenges by improving sustainable connectivity in the area. The Pre-feasibility 
study concluded that the implementation of a mass transit system within Central 
Gloucestershire offers a flexible model to support sustainable growth. 

3.1.2 The strategic evidence review identified several broad corridors where there may 
be sufficient demand to introduce mass transit as a viable solution: 
 South West Gloucester to Gloucester city centre. 
 Gloucester to Cheltenham. 
 Cheltenham town centre to North West Cheltenham (potential extensions into 

North West and West Cheltenham development sites). 
 Cheltenham town centre to Bishops Cleeve (potential extension to 

Ashchurch). 

3.1.3 An early viability assessment at Pre-feasibility stage concluded that: 
 Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) in some form has the potential to be viable within the 

area assuming that a range of BRT-type features can be delivered, including 
potentially high levels of segregation from traffic congestion, high levels of 
services and quality vehicles and associated infrastructure. 

 Light Rapid Transit (LRT), based on fixed route rail technology is unlikely to 
be viable, primarily due to scheme costs. However, this option may need to be 
reconsidered in due course if it can be proven that changes in technology (for 
example Ultra-Light Rail) can significantly reduce costs. 

3.1.4 The early viability assessments also suggested that mass transit would be best 
delivered alongside very strong supporting measures, especially in respect of 
high levels of transit-orientated development. Integration between large scale 
land use planning and transport provision has the potential to significantly 
increase ridership and transport revenues and user benefits as well as providing 
enhanced social, educations, and economic opportunities for the residents of the 
area.

3.2 Feasibility study 

3.2.1 The Feasibility study further developed the assessment of mass transit as a 
potential solution to the transport challenges in Central Gloucestershire. It 
explored and considered the following: 
 Policy context and integration with the wider programme of GCC schemes, 

including the developing BSIP. 

Page 17



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 8 of 10

 Demand assessments and relationship to planned and emerging growth 
scenarios – to support sustainable growth and carbon reduction. 

 Engineering and environmental constraints. 
 Operational and financial aspects – including funding requirements
 Issues and Challenges facing transport in Gloucestershire (see figure below) 

3.2.2 Once the Feasibility Study has GCC internal sign off (July 2022), then it will be 
distributed to relevant stakeholders, including GEGJC and GEJSC. 

Growing population
Issue: Populations of Gloucester and 

Cheltenham expected to grow by 9% and 
6% respectively by 2041.

Challenge: Ensuring that future 
development is located in the right places 

to support sustainable growth.

Poor connectivity for non-car modes
Issue: Particularly between rural 

areas/suburbs and the urban centres - 
currently a trip between Quedgeley to 

Cheltenham is over 1 hour by bus, 
compared to 24 minutes by car.

Challenge: Improving connectivity for 
sustainable modes.

Congestion and delay
Issue: A number of key corridors in 

Gloucester and Cheltenham experience 
peak delays, including B4009 Bristol Road 

and B4063.
Challenge: Easing congestion by reducing 

car trips through modal shift and 
behaviour change.

Population density
Issue: 38% of the county's population live 

within Gloucester and Cheltenham.
Challenge: Providing access to jobs, 

education and services for all.

High car ownership
Issue: 81% of households in Gloucester 
and Cheltenham have access to at least 
one car, above the current average in 

England and Wales of 74%. Multiple car 
ownership is also higher than average.

Challenge: Encouraging significant modal 
shift away from the private car.

Carbon and air quality issues
Issue: Challenging Net Zero target - in 

2018 transport accounted for 34% of all 
CO2 emissions per capita in 

Gloucestershire.
Challenge: Significantly reducing 

transport carbon emissions at pace.

Car trip demand
Issue: 49% and 46% of people who drive to 

work from Cheltenham and Gloucester 
respectively are driving distances under 5km.
Gloucester (26%) and Cheltenham (23%) are 

expected to experience growth in private 
vehicle trips by 2051 (highest and third highest 

in Gloucestershire).
Challenge: Reducing car trips.

Constraint to economic development and sustainable 
development/placemaking

Issue: Several central LSOAs rank amongst the 20% most 
deprived in the country. Need sustainable 

mobility/connectivity to support future growth.
Challenge: Increasing productivity and inward investment 

and ensuring future development is sustainable.

4. Engagement for Mass Transit scheme

4.1 Engagement has been undertaken with key internal stakeholders during the 
Feasibility stage:
 Gloucestershire Chief Executives
 Gloucestershire Strategic Directors
 Leadership Gloucestershire
 GCC Senior Officers
 Joint Economic Growth Committee

4.2 The main purpose of this engagement has been to inform these key 
stakeholders on project progress and next steps, and to identify any 
challenges/risks to mass transit at an early stage.

4.3 A stakeholder group, consisting of representatives from the county, districts 
and GFirst LEP), has also been established during this stage and will be 
engaged in the next stages of work. 

Page 18



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 9 of 10

5. Next steps

5.1The next step following sign off of the Feasibility study will be to begin the 
process of developing a Strategic Outline Case (SOC), the first stage of DfT’s 
transport business case process. Before developing a business case a 
strategic assessment will be undertaken as per the DfT’s guidance to confirm 
that the proposal is strategically aligned.

5.2This assessment work will be undertaken in close collaboration with the 
stakeholder group established at Feasibility stage and will consider a long list 
of options for addressing the transport issues and challenges in Central 
Gloucestershire, covering different modes including mass transit and policy 
interventions, drawing on the Decarbonisation work being undertaken by GCC 
and the policy context.

5.3More in-depth stakeholder engagement will also be undertaken, including 
focussed public engagement on the potential options and early engagement 
with the Western Gateway Sub-National Transport Body and the Department 
for Transport (DfT) around potential funding opportunities. 

5.4The option generation and sifting process of the strategic assessment will 
identify a rationalised long list, likely to be focused on potential public 
transport interventions, to be taken forward to SOC stage. 

5.5Stages of scheme development (stages in bold are funded through the £850K 
City Region Board funding approved by the GEGJC in May 2022):

 Pre-feasibility – completed
 Feasibility Study - completion in July 2022
 Strategic assessment and initial option assessment – 2022
 Strategic Outline Case (SOC) – 2023/24
 Subsequent stages of business case development (Outline Business 

Case, Full Business Case and related design and engagement) – 2024 - 
2027

 Construction – 2027 at the earliest but need to be operational before 
2030 in order to contribute to closing Gloucestershire’s emissions Gap.

6. Conclusion

6.1In addition to connecting the urban centres and supporting internal trips within 
Central Gloucestershire, mass transit cand help support rural-urban linkages 
through well-located interchange hubs (as identified in the network concept). 
This would enable residents from other districts in the county to travel to an 

Page 19



ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.

ERROR! UNKNOWN DOCUMENT PROPERTY NAME.
Page 10 of 

10

appropriate interchange hub, at which point they would mode-shift to mass 
transit, ensuring their travel into Central Gloucestershire is fast and efficient, 
and connecting them to jobs and services in the urban centres. GCC are 
commissioning an interchange strategy to support this process (expected to 
be completed in 2022), but indicative modelling undertaken for this Feasibility 
study shows that mass transit increases public transport demand overall and 
generates a strong increase in bus and mass transit P&R demand, especially 
when demand management measures are introduced (up to 1% mode share 
in 2041 compared to 0.1% mode share for bus P&R without mass transit).

6.2Mass transit could also help support sustainable growth in Central 
Gloucestershire through enabling development with public transport as the 
primary transport mode. The adopted Joint Core Strategy (JCS) for 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury sets out planned growth to 2031, 
with planned growth concentrated in Central Gloucestershire. Beyond this, 
further growth in Central Gloucestershire is expected, with the districts 
currently undertaking a Joint Core Strategy Review (now known as the Joint 
Spatial Plan, with consultation expected later in 2022). There is an opportunity 
to consider how mass transit could support the principle of sustainable 
development for both allocated and future growth in Gloucestershire.

Page 20



Executive Director’s Report, Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Scrutiny Committee Report

June 2022

This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, including 
updates on areas previously reported.  

1.0 Decisions

Relevant forthcoming decisions, by date due:
 Gloucestershire County Council’s submission to the Multiply Programme element of the 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Between 7 Jun 2022 and 21 Jun 2022 by Cabinet Member - 
Education, Skills and Bus Transport

 Proposed re-location of Stroud Library 22 Jun 2022 by Cabinet
 To seek approval to go out to public consultation on the proposed draft library strategy 22 

Jun 2022 by Cabinet
 Scheme development funding for M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Strategic Transport 

Scheme in 2022/23  22 Jun 2022 by Cabinet
 Severn River Basin District Flood Risk Management Plan Between 25 May 2022 and 30 

Jun 2022 by Cabinet Member - Highways and Flooding
 Review of Community Offer provided as part of Stage 5 of the Fastershire delivery 

programme Between 10 May 2022 and 5 Aug 2022 by Cabinet Member - Education, Skills 
and Bus Transport

Pending items for publication  
 Road Safety Policy 
 Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the Dynamic Purchasing System for 

Transport

2.0 Highways 

M5 J10
 Preferred Route Announcement took place on 16th June 2021 along with associated 

communications and publication via GCC website.
 Land agents progressing land acquisition/negotiations in partnership with GCC 

Property.
 Successful bid for £35k Capacity Funding from Homes England to support local 

planning authorities in both their statutory and non-statutory functions in respect of the 
Development Consent Order process. Further bid for this f/y of £125k has just been 
awarded by Homes England

 Claims to date total just under £22m.
 Consultation for A38/A4019 Coombe Hill package of works have concluded and design 

is being finalised for the planning application.  
 Statutory Public Consultation is complete.  Formal responses have been provided to 

prescribed consultees’ comments. Next stage will be full consultation report released in 
summer 2022 which will then feed into the DCO.

 Arle Court Transport Hub – Civils element– Planning granted and contract awarded to 
Knights Brown. Works commenced on site on 6th June 2022.

Page 21

Agenda Item 5

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45340&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45340&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45222&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45221&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44370&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44370&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45073&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44839&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44839&Opt=0


 Tenders received for the MSCP element of the scheme and currently undergoing 
assessment. Planning decision is expected in July.

 Work continues on the draft DCO documents, along with engagement with stakeholders 
on the Statements of Common Ground.

West Cheltenham Transport Infrastructure Scheme / Cyber
 Work started on site for Phases 1 and 2 in June 2020 and are now complete.  The 

Phase 3 and 4 Design and Build contract started in January 2021 and are now 
substantially complete with a public unveiling event undertaken in early June. Wider 
walking and cycling improvement works will continue on Hubble Road and in the St 
Marks area of West Cheltenham.

 National Highways’ safety critical works at Staverton Bridge and Brookfield Bridge are 
underway.  The M5 J11 works were completed as scheduled in March 2022 with full co-
ordination with the West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme.

Gloucester SW Bypass / Llanthony Road
 All premises are now owned by GCC, utility disconnections and demolition works are 

completed.  Planning application for change of use (part of City Business Centre to 
become car park for displaced parking) has been approved.  Scheme includes 
segregated footway and cycleway facilities that are compliant with latest government 
design guidance from the DfT.

 A successful DfT Levelling Up Fund bid has allocated £12.822m to the scheme and a 
procurement exercise is now complete with highway works starting in early July with 
works expected to last for 12 months.  A contractor share event was undertaken on the 
15th June alongside wider scheme communications.

Gloucester Station Access Works (Delivery with Gloucester City Council)
 New access/egress at Metz Way now complete.  Revised Bruton Way access works 

including additional drainage works commenced in May 2022 following confirmation of 
GWR license requirements.

Structures/Geotechnical Schemes
 Blakeney West – Construction ongoing – piling operations now underway but are taking 

longer than anticipated due to ground conditions and piling rig capacity.  Target 
completion is Summer/Autumn 2022.

 Rushmire Hill – investigations ongoing to determine slip failure mechanism to inform 
design.

 Badgeworth Road – Discussions re roadspace and with National Highways to co-
ordinate activities in the area, along with joint comms.  Also requires Network Rail 
engagement.

 Tintern Bridge – Tenders received and assessed, with successful contractor to be 
appointed by end June.  Start planned for mid-July for a duration of 6-9 months.  
Ongoing co-ordination with Monmouthshire CC who jointly have responsibility for the 
bridge including joint comms and public share events. 

 Walk Bridge – tendering Design and Build contract for Stroud District Council.  Project 
specification delivered for design and build procurement.

Ashchurch Bridge over Rail (Delivery for Tewkesbury Borough Council)
     Planning permission for the bridge has been granted. Development of legal agreement 

is concluding.

Page 22



 Project delivery through Design and Build contract with procurement documents being 
drafted.  Works continue with Tewkesbury Borough Council and Network Rail to 
understand the complexities of the legal agreements required for the construction 
phase.

A435 Junction Improvements
 Works completed in May 2022 to deliver junction improvements associated with local 

housing developments. The project has also provided some enabling works for future 
cycle route between Cheltenham and Bishops Cleeve.

A435 Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycleway
 A recent funding announcement from the DfT Active Travel Fund means the scheme is 

now fully funded and preliminary design work is now progressing of the cycle route 
following an initial concept design. 

A419 Junction Improvements (Stonehouse)
 Works substantially complete.   Alterations planned at Horsetrough Roundabout to 

improve cycling provision planned for later in 2022. 

Highways Contracts
 Term maintenance (Ringway) – Fourth year of the contract has now commenced.  

Cyclical maintenance and defect repair performance remains on target.  From April 
2022 Gloucestershire funded a dedicated spray injection patching machine in order to 
enable a proactive approach without reliance on supply chain – the effectiveness of this 
approach is scheduled for review in July. Recruitment across the sector remains difficult 
- commercial discussions underway to address retention/ recruitment challenges in 
construction sector.  

 Professional services (Atkins) – Fourth year of contract underway.  
 Bridge Inspections – investigating a risk-based approach to inspection regime as 

opposed to calendar-based approach, this will bring in to line with Safety Policy.
 Structural maintenance (Tarmac) – First year of new 4-year contract started April 2022.  

Delivery of capital resurfacing programme well under way and on track.
 Street lighting (M Group) – Performance on key indicators remains satisfactory.  
 Highway Skills Academy – Focus for 23/24 will be on the formation of a 

development/career path for those staff which are progressing through their 
apprenticeships in order that GCC retains the investment in time, funds and skills.  Our 
first cohort of Level 4 (HNC equivalent) Apprenticeships of 10 staff.  A second cohort 
planned to follow this year with the high level of interest from existing staff.  Highways 
have also welcomed some participants from the Kickstart programme into the teams 
which has been a successful initiative resulting in individuals wishing to stay with the 
authority and applying for permanent roles.

Highways Delivery
 Depots/property – development of strategic plan for highways depots included in 22/23 

Service Plan in order to ensure facilities are fit for purpose. Construction works have 
been completed at Cirencester depot including refurbishment of the existing building 
and a new building built to provide Operative Welfare facilities and GCC hub provision.  
IT provision is currently being undertaken.  Decoration works have been completed in 
Stroudwater and we have improved the operative welfare facility.  A new kitchen for the 
operatives is being installed at Cannop and plans are being prepared to improvements 
to other welfare facilities.

Page 23



 Ash die back – continued programme in 22/23 including planting programme to ensure 
that two trees are planted for each one felled with ash die back disease.  Discussions 
are underway with external organisations such as National Trust and others to identify 
larger woodland planting schemes off the public highway.  Latest inspections indicate 
that the disease is spreading quickly – prioritisation of works to ensure a risk-based 
approach is being take is essential.  

3.0 Traffic and Transport

Recent DMMO Statistics

Total number of ‘unresolved’ applications: 209  (static from last 
month)

No. of new ‘min.14(1) compliant’ applications received in 
2022 to date

32           (21 in 2021)

Number of applications ‘resolved’ in 2022 to date 3              (10 in 2021)
Number of routes added to DM&S by ‘other means’ in 2022 to 
date

2              (3 in 2021)

Currently resolving, on average over the past 5 years, 7.2 applications a year.

Number of all ‘undetermined’ applications, as at 16 June 2022: 
Undetermined Undet-Archived Undet-Non14(2)

No. 49 (down 1) 52 72
(“Archived” applications are whereby the intended effect of the application is essentially 
nulled by a subsequent change in legislation (for example, the NERC Act); “Non14(2)” 
applications have not been ‘fully made’ but are still valid applications in terms of needing 
determination.) 

Number of all unresolved ‘determined’ applications, as at 16 June 2022: 
Apps with unresolved objectionsApps at publication/ 

confirmation stage Submitted to SoS Awaiting submission 
No. 2 (up 1) 0 34

Recent CROWC determinations:
Last 2 CROW 
Committees

1 App on 29 March - decision to make Order for additional 
FP
1 App on 16 May - decision to make Order for additional FP

Next CROW Committee 4 Oct 2022

DfT Emergency Active Travel Fund 
 Tranche 2: Works on an LTN 1/20 compliant cycle route along the B4063 between the 

M5 overbridge and Pheasant Lane were substantially completed in June. Good 
progress is being on the adjacent section from Pheasant Lane to Arle Court.

ITU Public Transport and School Transport
 The DfT is currently providing revenue support to the bus network to mitigate the long-

term impact of Covid on passenger numbers. On average services are at approx. 70% 
of their pre-pandemic level, with park and ride much lower. DfT support ends on 4 
October and officers are developing proposals to locally manage the impact of any 
reductions in financial support.  

Page 24



Network Management (Road Safety and Parking)
 A cabinet member decision will be taken to consult this summer on a draft Road Safety 

Policy. In developing draft proposals consideration has been given to the international 
Vision Zero aspiration by 2050 and interim targets to halve the number of people killed 
and seriously injured on Gloucestershire’s roads by 2032. This follows the recent 
Council decision to invest £550k in 2022/23 in community road safety measures and the 
launch in May of the first phase. 

 The ULEV Programme Manager has briefed districts on the council’s EV charge point 
contract with Connected Kerb and has submitted a £1.9m bid to the DfT LEVI fund for a 
package of EV chargepoint investment in rural areas. A number of parish councils have 
also been engaged as part of this process. Meetings are also underway with Connected 
Kerb to firm up locations for charge points in urban areas as part of the 22/23 workplan.

 Orders have been placed to upgrade all the council’s on street pay and display 
machines in Cheltenham, Gloucester and Cirencester to take contactless payment. The 
first 20 machines have been installed in Cheltenham. This not only provides better 
customer access but will also address the problem of criminals stealing cash from pay & 
display machines. Last year GCC Parking officers helped police catch one such gang.

4.0 Strategic Infrastructure

B4063 / A40 Highways England Cycling Scheme – Cheltenham to Gloucester
     The original HE scheme, in order to fulfil funding criteria, needed to be completed by 

March 2020. This, however, was subsequently extended to construction starting in 
2021, as part of the RIS2 process. GCC officers continue to engage with HE’s Route 
Manager to attempt to ensure everything is ‘joined up’. 

     GCC has decided to take over the detailed design of this project, with the design fully 
underway with the East part of the route designed and consulted upon in Spring 2021, 
an independent audit has now been completed by a leading industry expert to ensure 
we provide the best possible facility we can within the constraints.  The audit findings 
have led to extensive enhancement of the provision, which have been heavily endorsed 
by Sustrans to the extent that they are due to become a major funding provider for the 
scheme.  The revised proposals for the East part of the route between the M5 
overbridge and Arle Court have now been published on the County Council’s website 
reflecting the feedback received to date.

     Works started in October 2021, delivering the east part of the route first between the M5 
and Pheasant Lane which is now substantially complete.  

 The subsequent phase between Pheasant Lane and Arle Court is also now being 
constructed with an expected completion date of late Early Autumn 2022.

 Works on the wider route West of the M5 Overbridge in Staverton are in the process of 
being tendered with works expected to start in Autumn 2022.

 Consultation is due to be undertaken on the West part of the route between Elmbridge 
Court and Gloucester in Autumn 2022.

 This scheme will have the key advantage of directly linking the project to the emerging 
£22M West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS) providing a 
continuous link between Gloucester and Cheltenham rail station once complete and 
include the recently successfully delivered Emergency Active Travel Scheme on London 
Road in Gloucester. The GFirst LEP Board, in December 2020, agreed that any future 
underspend on the £22M WCTIS would be ringfenced to the B4063 cycle scheme. Prior 

Page 25



to this, in November 2020, £864k was secured from an EATF Tranche 2 bid from the 
Department for Transport (DfT), which will part fund a section of the works.  National 
Highways have now allocated £5 million to the construction of this scheme and 
Sustrans have allocated a further £1 million to the delivery of the route.

     The County Council has recently successfully secured DfT Levelling Up Funding to 
extend the route through Gloucester City Centre and Gloucester Docks providing 
linkage to the Gloucester Canal Towpath.  

 A recent DFT Tranche 3 Active Travel Fund (ATF) bid announcement has been made in 
relation to the County Council securing its full bid allocation for the cycle route in 
Gloucester including Estcourt Road Roundabout.

M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch)
 The Strategic Outline Business Case for the M5 J9 / A46 scheme was submitted to the 

DfT in January 2020;
 Positive Government announcement in March 2020, stating that the scheme should 

progress to the next stage, which is the Outline Business Case;
 The progression of the scheme was considered and approved by GCC Cabinet on 24th 

March 2021; 
 Discussions re- possible future funding ongoing with both Homes England and 

Tewkesbury BC due to the links to the emerging ‘garden town’ – and an additional 
£1.5M funding was secured in March 2022;

 Ongoing discussions with HE to secure approval of options for Junction 9;
 Detailed HE feedback has been received and is currently being analysed by officers and 

Atkins. 
 Baroness Vere has confirmed support for the project in November 2021.
 Cabinet report (re- future expenditure on M5 J9 / A46) was considered on 22nd June 

2022.
 Non statutory public consultation anticipated end September 2022.

Fastershire
 Fastershire Partnership Agreement – An officer meeting took place in June with the 

new Senior Responsible Officer for the project at Herefordshire Council.  The meeting 
focussed on discussing the future working relationship between the authorities both in 
relation to Fastershire and Project Gigabit.  Discussions are ongoing.  

 Project Gigabit – Discussions are still ongoing with Herefordshire Council and BDUK 
regarding how Project Gigabit will be delivered within the county.  

 Fastershire household and business grants - The publication of the decision report 
outlining the updated household and business grants has been paused while 
discussions regarding the Fastershire Partnership Agreement are taking place.  

A417 Missing Link
 Preferred Route Announcement (Route 30) made March 2019;
 Further public consultation took place in Autumn 2019;
 A supportive officer-level response to this consultation (a joint response from CDC, TBC 

and GCC) was sent on 8th November 2019;
 Positive announcement in March 2020 stating that the scheme has secured funding and 

should progress to DCO;
 Revised proposals were subject to a further public consultation, which started on 12th 

October 2020. A detailed GCC officer response was sent, meeting the external deadline 
of 12th November 2020;

 The DCO planning application was submitted in June 2021 and the Planning 
Inspectorate’s Public Examination concluded on 16th May 2022;

Page 26



 The Planning Inspectorate will now compile a report, which will make a recommendation 
of decision to the Secretary of State for Transport. This report is expected to be sent to 
the Secretary of State in Summer 2022 and a final decision to be made later in 2022.

Local Transport Plan (LTP)
 The LTP was adopted at Full Council on 17th March 2021. A review of the LTP is 

currently being considered. 

Chepstow Transport Improvements
 Consultant’s report outlined scheme options;
 Monmouthshire CC keen to progress to Full Business Cases;
 GCC Lead Cabinet Members supported a GCC financial contribution of £20K (2020/21) 

towards Stage 2 of the Chepstow Transport Study;
 A further GCC financial contribution of £30K for 2021/22 has been made to 

Monmouthshire CC;
 Meeting with relevant MPs held on 28th January 2022. 

Cinderford 
 FoDDC yet to secure planning permission and funding for proposed extension of phase 

one of the road;
 A Section 73 amendment to vary the existing planning permission was submitted in 

April 2021 and is awaiting determination by FoDDC;
 FoDDC held a Cinderford Northern Quarter Scrutiny Inquiry in November 2021, with 

GCC senior officer input;
 Until planning and funding for the road is in place, no further action for GCC. 

Local Plans / JSP / CIL
 Review of Joint Strategic Plan (JSP – formerly known as the JCS) now underway 

following an ‘Issues and Options’ consultation which ended in January 2019;
 The JSP Reg.18 public consultation has now been delayed to Spring 2023;
 Progress has been made with the JSP authorities to review the JCS CIL – consultants 

are now undertaking this task in liaison with GCC officers and stakeholders;
 GCC education and library contributions continue to be challenged and declined by 

some District Councils and developers – these are in the process of being reviewed by 
GCC;

 GCC continues to not receive a penny of CIL from any of the JSP authorities;
 Stroud Local Plan – Consultation on Draft Local Plan – closed 22nd January 2020. 

Significant officer-level concerns submitted to SDC – especially transport issues re- the 
significant proposed development at Whaddon and Sharpness. Another SDC 
consultation took place with additional possible housing sites, which was responded to 
in December 2020. The most recent public consultation stage (pre-submission draft 
consultation) ended on 21st July 2021. GCC officer comments were submitted prior to 
the deadline. The Plan has now been submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for 
consideration. GCC officers and consultants will be actively involved in the future Public 
Examination and have secured approval to do so. 

 Cotswold Local Plan – ‘Issues and Options’ consultation recently ended – the deadline 
for comments was 20th March 2022. GCC officers submitted representations prior to the 
deadline on 18th March 2022. 

 Forest of Dean Local Plan – Issues and Options consultation ended on 31st October 
2019. FoDDC consulted on a ‘preferred option’ – the closing date for comments was 
29th January 2021. GCC officers commented before this deadline. The Draft Plan is 
expected to be published for public consultation in Autumn 2022. 

Page 27



5.0 Libraries & Registration

Libraries
 A 12-week public consultation will be launched on the new Library Strategy (2023-2028) 

following the decision to consult taken at the 22nd June Cabinet meeting.  The 
consultation will be available online and through hard copy surveys in all County 
libraries.

 The relocation of Stroud library was agreed at the Cabinet meeting of 22nd June – 
following the standstill period, plans will now progress to relocate the service to the Five 
Valleys Shopping Centre with an anticipated move at the end of the calendar year.

 Gloucestershire Libraries Summer Reading Challenge 2022 launches on 9th July. This 
year’s theme is ‘Gadgeteers’ and links well with the new Innovation labs and the 
libraries ‘Greener Together’ climate and sustainability programme.

Registration 
 No new update.

6.0 Waste Management 

 The procurement for the sale of electricity generated by the Gloucestershire Energy 
from Waste Facility at Javelin Park is ongoing. All energy sales from the 
Gloucestershire EfW have been fixed until Oct 23 (the end of the existing contract term 
with our current off-taker, EDF). The aim is to commence the new agreement by Sept 
22, so that the council can forward sell electricity when considered best value to do so. 

 Next day appointments are available at each of the five HRC sites. Improvements to the 
website appointments booking platform are being made to allow same day booking (the 
soonest appointments that can currently be made are next day). We hope to have this 
work completed for a July launch 

 A response has been drafted to a DEFRA consultation on preventing charges for DIY 
waste at HWRCs and a call for evidence on the use of booking systems at HWRCs. The 
GCC response opposes the government proposals on the prevention of charging and 
makes a case for the retention of booking systems. The draft response will be 
considered by SEEIMB on 29th June 

 A response has been submitted to a BEIS consultation on the UK Emissions Trading 
Scheme, which proposes that Energy from Waste facilities be included in the scheme 
from the mid-2020s. The GCC response accepts the need for further decarbonisation of 
the waste management industry, but argues that other proposed policy measures such 
Extended Producer Responsibility for packaging waste should be implemented first, as 
these policies may have a positive effect and reduce the need for expensive, end of 
pipe “retro-fit” solutions such as carbon capture or heat-recovery

 Following on from the “Know your Plastics” campaign launched in May, July will see 
further focus on reducing plastic by promoting the international “Plastic Free July” 
campaign. This will be delivered in partnership with the district councils, the campaign 
will aim to reduce confusion on what plastics can and cannot be recycled

 Grundon has submitted a planning application to cover the period of this contract 
extension exercised by GCC for residual waste transfer from Bishops Cleeve to Javelin 
Park. The application has been validated by the WPA.

 The waste management theme was considered at the most recent Climate Leadership 
Gloucestershire meeting, where a presentation was provided by members of the 
Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership and the Waste Planning Authority. 

Page 28



Sustainability/Climate Change
 A bid has been submitted to the Local Authorities Treescape Fund (LATF), which is 

managed by the Forestry Commission and is part of Government’s Nature for Climate 
Fund. The GCC bid focusses on highways trees, urban tree planting, planting on a GCC 
owned stretch of former railway line, together with planting projects at partner sites in 
Bream (Bream Rugby Club), Daglingworth (Duchy of Cornwall), Hartpury College and at 
two National Trust owned sites.

 Preparations for the next tree planting season (Oct to Mar) are underway, with around 
40,000 planting opportunities currently identified.  

 Our proposed 3-year investment programme to decarbonise the heating of council 
buildings and Travellers sites’ communal utility blocks, using the council’s £1m Salix 
energy efficiency loan fund has been submitted to Salix funding for approval.  11 council 
buildings where gas heating systems are at end of life will benefit from the installation of 
Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHPs) powered using rooftop solar photovoltaics (PV). 53 
communal utility blocks across four Traveller Sites will have ASHPs powered using grid 
electricity.

 The team continues to work with Transport Planning colleagues on a Transport 
Decarbonisation Forum event to be held at Kingsholm on 19th July. Cllr David Gray will 
host the event that will see over 100 delegates come together to discuss approaches to 
decarbonising transport within Gloucestershire.  

Travellers Service
 A bid has been submitted to the Government’s Travellers Site Fund for improvements to 

the facilities at the Council’s Travellers’ sites. If successful, the bid would fund the 
building of brick utility blocks on the Willows Site, Gloucester (replacing old prefab metal 
utility containers that are at end of life), and a new building to house a community hub 
that agencies such as the council, police and NHS can use at the site.

 The Principal Gypsy & Travellers Lead and Head of Environment and Waste recently 
met with Cllr Nick Housden, who has assumed cabinet member responsibility for the 
Travellers Service. Officers provided and introductory briefing.

7.0 Employment and Skills 

Adult Education Service
 New 4-year subcontract framework documents now completed and new framework is 

currently being designed by the Subcontract lead – timeline is on track for the new 
academic year.

 RoAPT application was submitted in April, decision not due until July 2022, it is currently 
under review but no issues have been raised yet.

 New Health and Social Care IQA/Assessor/Tutor (Fixed Term Contract) has started 
enabling us to deliver Health and Social Care accredited qualifications next academic 
year, currently in the process of developing curriculum, gaining awarding body 
accreditation, and speaking to local employers to ascertain the needs for specific areas 
of training.  New catalogue of Health and Social care CPD and online courses are now 
available to add value to our offer and to increase our full cost recovery income.  

Page 29



 Currently looking at developing sector-based skill courses to meet local employer needs 
with a view to run shorter courses with employers attached to them, working with the 
hub team to carry out interviews for local vacancies.

 Continuing to work with the Skills and Employment Hub to build working relationships, 
supporting programmes with specific employability and wellbeing training.  We share a 
member of staff who will be attending all local job centres to promote the service and to 
signpost people to either AdEd or the hub for more support depending upon their needs.  
She will also be running a weekly drop-in job support workshop within AdEd where she 
will help people apply for work, identify their learning or skills needs and provide key 
career advice.  This is aimed at linking the two services and signposting customers to 
the correct department to help them progress.  We will be working with Adviza to carry 
out IAG sessions and update CV’s.

 Continuing to support the hub with a variety of workshops and training, including 
Forwards Job Clubs, Moving Forwards and various other employability programmes.

 ESOL provision now the chosen provider for all Ukrainian’s coming through the Homes 
for Ukraine scheme – increasing our provision significantly.  Demand has been so high 
for ESOL that we have moved a member of the community team on the ESOL team to 
ensure we continue to meet the needs of the learners.  Additional courses are now 
being added to the schedule in the Forest of Dean, Stroud, and Tewkesbury as well as 
online courses to for those requiring flexibility with their learning.  592 learners have so 
far been enrolled on ESOL courses since September with a further 5 courses due to 
start in June. 

Skills and Employment Hub
 A total of 174 people have now accessed the Employment and Skills Hub
 We have now recruited a second Hub Job Broker which will help us extend our reach 

and work with a growing network of providers.
 We will be hosting an open day for school leavers and their parents on the 6th of July 

and have secured a number of employers, apprenticeship providers and partners to 
attend on the day.

 We are working with two local supported housing providers – Guinness Homes and 
Rooftops to offer residents with tailored employment and skills support in partnership 
with Adult Education and Libraries.

Employment Programmes
 Our Forwards programme for Disabilities continues to operate smoothly and we now 

have all staff in post
 We are nearly up to full cadre in the Hub with only two apprentice and one Broker post 

now to fill.  We are taking advantage of DWP fixed term contracts ending and have 
some ex-DWP staff joining us in June.

 We have recruited a BME Research Officer who will be working with young people 
from BME communities to understand their experiences pre, during and post covid in 
education and employment to help us understand why there are higher levels of 
NEETs in this group and to help us make changes in the system to aid their 
progression

 Our ICS programme of work will now start with all three posts recruited.  This will look 
at addressing health inequalities for those at risk of long-term unemployment and 
create opportunities for young people across the ICS business areas including work 
experience, supported internships, traineeships and apprenticeships.  

 We also have some additional funding to provide ongoing in work support to Care 
Leavers and NEETs going into work to help them sustain their employment and an IAG 

Page 30



Adviser working with NEETs and Care Leavers and the Hub providing targeted careers 
advice.

The Gloucestershire GEM Project
 On the 30th September we will cease referrals into GEM.  We now have confirmation 

that funding will be available to allow us to deliver a scaled down version of GEM from 
October 2022 to March 2024 when UKSP Funding will include employment and skills 
interventions for people who are economically inactive.  We will work with Districts and 
our existing partnership to design the project (which will not be called GEM) with 
partnership engagement event planned for the 7th July.

Kickstart
 Now that Kickstart has finished in terms of referrals into the programme, we continue to 

work with employers to ensure those young people left are supported.  There are 
currently 30 young people remaining in our “Gateway”.

 We are completing an evaluation of the project and this will be shared soon.

LSE Funding
 We have submitted a bid to DWP for LSE funding to increase support for people within 

social care with learning disabilities and/or autism to find and retain work.  We will know 
the outcome of this bid in July and if successful will commence delivery in November 
2022 for 29 months.

GIS Healthcare
 The supported employment element of GIS transferred to us in September.  We are 

currently looking at how the DWP grant can be utilised more effectively to help more 
disabled people into work including looking at external host employers.

 The Proof of Concept for the Employment Support Grant has now been launched by 
DWP however we still have scant information about this.  Over the coming weeks we 
should know more about how we can use this to support people with more complex 
disabilities who’s needs cannot be met through existing support into work.  

- REPORT END - 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2022

31 May 2022

Modern Methods of Construction 
Developers

LEP item: N/A

21 July 2022 22 September 2022 29 November 2022

Public Transport – including the Mass 
Transit Project, Transport Decarbonisation 

and public transport in rural areas 

Digital strategy for Gloucestershire – 
including an update on the Golden Valley 

Cyber Project

Independent Retail Sector – Overview of 
current growth, how can growth be 

encouraged, forecast for Winter 2022/3

Statement of Common Ground – Issues 
relating to this and their impact, particularly 

in relation to employment land. 

Food and Farming Strategy Update 

Performance data – Q4 2021/22 Performance data – Q1 2022/23 Performance data – Q2 2022/23

LEP item: N/A LEP item: Implications of the LEP 
Review and the Levelling Up agenda

LEP item: N/A

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 6



POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS

1 City Region Board 6

2 In-depth discussion on unemployment statistics 
and resources

7

3 Hosting of GEGSC meetings by district councils 
– district SLTs to provide presentations on their 
economic growth visions.

8

4 9
5

P
age 34


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	GEGSC Actions - 31 May 2022

	4 Public Transport
	5 Executive Director's Report
	6 Work Plan

